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NOTES

DETERMINING A STANDARD OF CAUSATION FOR
DISCRIMINATORY DISCHARGES UNDER

SECTION 8(a)(3) OF THE NATIONAL
LABOR RELATIONS ACT

I. INTRODUCTION

Section 8(a)(3)1 of the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA)2 pro-
hibits discrimination3 in employment decisions on the basis of union
membership or activity, encouraging employees to freely exercise their
right to join unions without imperiling their livelihood.4 The Act, how-
ever, does not interfere with management's right to discharge employ-
ees for legitimate business reasons.-

The most recurrent problem 6 presented to the National Labor Rela-
tions Board is determining whether an employer's discharge decision is
motivated by valid business reasons or anti-union animus.7 Resolution

1. 29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(3) (1976) provides in pertinent part: "It shall be an unfair labor prac-
tice for an employer... by discrimination in regard to hire or tenure of employment or any term
or condition of employment to encourage or discourage membership in any labor organization."

2. 29 U.S.C. §§ 151-168 (1976).
3. Neither the NLRA nor its legislative history contains a definition of "discrimination."

The Supreme Court has not defined the word in the context of § 8(a)(3) unfair labor practices
either. For an excellent analysis of the meaning of "discrimination" in the NLRA, see Shieber,
Section 8(a)(3) ofthe National Labor Relations Act;A Rationale: Part L Discrimination, 29 LA. L.
REv. 46 (1968). See also note 20 infra.

4. Radio Officers' Union v. NLRB, 347 U.S. 17,40 (1954); Waterbury Community Antenna,
Inc. v. NLRB, 587 F.2d 90, 96 (2d Cir. 1978); NLRB v. Milk Drivers & Dairy Employees Local
338, 531 F.2d 1162, 1163 (2d Cir. 1976).

5. American Ship Bldg. Co. v. NLRB, 380 U.S. 300, 311 (1965); NLRB v. Mackay Radio &
Tel. Co., 304 U.S. 333, 347 (1938); NLRB v. Jones & Laughlin Steel Corp., 301 U.S. 1, 45-46
(1937); Waterbury Community Antenna, Inc. v. NLRB, 587 F.2d 90, 96 (2d Cir. 1978); NLRB v.
Advanced Business Forms Corp., 474 F.2d 457, 464 (2d Cir. 1973); NLRB v. Dorn's Transp. Co.,
405 F.2d 706, 712 (2d Cir. 1969).

6. "We receive far too many discriminatory discharge cases-well over half of all charges
filed against employers-and charges against employers constitute over two-thirds of all charges
filed." 52 N.Y.S.B.J. 184 (April 1980) (address by NLRB Chairman John H. Fanning). In 1980,
the Board's caseload approached the 50,000 mark. Id Consistently, nearly two-thirds of all
charges against employers, totalling approximately 22,000 cases in 1980, involve allegations of
discriminatory discharges. 42 NLRB ANN. REP. 11 (1977); 41 NLRB ANN. RaE. 11 (1976); 40
NLRB ANN. REP. 9 (1975); 34 NLRB ANN. REP. 199 (1969).

7. See Shieber & Moore, Section 8(a)(3) of the National Labor Relations Act: A Rationale,

Washington University Open Scholarship



914 WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY LAW QUARTERLY [Vol. 59:913

of such cases turns on proof of discriminatory intent or motivation.$
The Board must determine whether there is a causal relationship when
an employee who engaged in union or other protected activities is sub-
jected to employer action that detrimentally affects the employee's job.9

The employer commits an unfair labor practice under the Act if the
General Counsel1 ° demonstrates that the actuating motive was reprisal
for the employee's union membership or activity. l1

Although the General Counsel is not required to show that union
activities were the sole actuating cause for the discharge or lesser disci-
pline,12 broad disagreement exists over the quantum of employer ani-
mus necessary to find an unfair labor practice. 13 Consequently, courts
and the Board have employed various "tests" when deciding dual mo-
tive cases. 4 Some courts find a violation if employer discipline was
precipitated "in part" by the employee's union activity, even though
the action was taken "in part" for significant business reasons.' 5 Other

Part!!, 33 LA. L. REv. 1, 37-42 (1972), in which the authors suggest definitions of motive that can
be used in two distinct senses to clarify the significance of employer anti-union animus in § 8(a)(3)
cases.

8. Apparently the terms "motive" and "intent," although distinguishable under some cir-
cumstances, are used synonymously by both the NLRB and the courts. See Christensen & Sva-
noe, Motive and Intent in the Commission of Unfair Labor Practices, 77 YAL L.J. 1269, 1271 n.4
(1968). But see Oberer, The Scienter Factor in Sections 8(a)(1) and (3) of the LaborAct: of Balanc-
ing, Hostile Motive, Dogs and Tails, 52 CORNELL L.Q. 491 (1967) (motive and intent each stand
for distinguishable concepts and should be employed as such).

9. See Wright Line, A Division of Wright Line, Inc., 251 N.L.R.B. 1083, 1083 (1980) [here-
inafter cited as Wright Line].

10. The General Counsel's office was established to handle the Board's unfair labor practice
prosecutorial functions. The General Counsel, appointed by the President and approved by the
Senate, is responsible for representing the NLRB in the courts. Because the General Counsel's
discretion is unreviewable, many believe him to be the most powerful individual in the labor
relations field. For the statutory authority of the General Counsel, see 29 U.S.C. § 153(d) (1976).

11. See R. GORmAN, LABOR LAW 137 (1977).
12. Id at 138.
13. Compare, eg., NLRB v. Fibers Int'l Corp., 439 F.2d 1311, 1312 (1st Cir. 1971) (improper

motive must be dominant) with S.A. Healy Co. v. NLRB, 435 F.2d 314, 316 (10th Cir. 1970)
(improper motive must have contributed in some part) and NLRB v. United Brass Works, Inc.,
287 F.2d 689, 693-94 (4th Cir. 1961) (there must be a reasonable explanation for the discrimina-
tory motive).

14. See, e-g., Wright Line, 251 N.L.R.B. 1083 (1980). These causation tests are analyzed in
§ IV ikfta.

15. "In part" language has been employed by every circuit court of appeals except the first
and the ninth. See, eg., Second Circuit: NLRB v. Midtown Service Co., 425 F.2d 665, 670 (2d
Cir. 1970); Third Circuit: NLRB v. Eagle Material Handling, Inc., 558 F.2d 160, 169 (3d Cir.
1977); Fourth Circuit: Neptune Water Meter Co. v. NLRB, 551 F.2d 568, 569 (4th Cir. 1977);
Fifth Circuit: Sweeney & Co. v. NLRB, 437 F.2d 1127, 1133 (5th Cir. 1971); Sixth Circuit: NLRB
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Number 3] DISCRIMINATORY DISCHARGES

courts require the improper motive to be "dominant."1 6

This Note contends that the motive test announced by the Supreme
Court in Mt. Healthy Board of Education v. Doyle,17 a related first
amendment case,' 8 provides the proper balance between the employer's
management prerogatives and the employee's right to protection from
discrimination attributable to organizational activity. The Note argues
that the Mt. Healthy test is mandated by the legislative history of the
NLRA, as well as pertinent Supreme Court decisions. Finally, this
Note concludes that a shifting burden of proof must be applied in dual
motive cases to insure that the competing interests inherent in dual mo-
tivation cases are resolved in accord with the policies and objectives of
NLRA section 8(a)(3).

II. STATUTORY PROVISIONS AND ELEMENTS OF THE

PRIMA FACIE CASE

Section 8(a)(3) of the National Labor Relations Act provides that it
is an unfair labor practice for an employer to encourage or discourage
membership in a labor organization through discrimination pertaining
to hire or tenure of employment.' 9 A basic violation of this section
consists of three elements: the employer's action must constitute "dis-
crimination,"2 it must occur in the area of "hire, tenure of employment

v. Adam Loos Boiler Works Co., 435 F.2d 707, 707 (6th Cir. 1970); Seventh Circuit: Nacker
Packing Co. v. NLRB, 615 F.2d 456,459-60 (7th Cir. 1980); Eighth Circuit: Singer Co. v. NLRB,
429 F.2d 172, 179 (8th Cir. 1970); Tenth Circuit: M.S.P. Indus. v. NLRB, 568 F.2d 166, 168 (10th
Cir. 1977); District of Columbia Circuit: Allen v. NLRB, 561 F.2d 976, 982 (D.C. Cir. 1977). See
also Youngstown Osteopathic Hosp. Ass'n, 224 N.L.R.B. 574, 92 L.R.R.M. 1328, 1329 (1976).

16. See, e.g., Colletti's Furniture, Inc. v. NLRB, 550 F.2d 1292, 1293 (Ist Cir. 1977); Famet,
Inc. v. NLRB, 490 F.2d 293, 296 (9th Cir. 1973).

17. 429 U.S. 274 (1977).
18. The plaintiff in Mt. Healthy alleged that his discharge from employment as a public

school teacher was discriminatorily motivated in violation of the first and fourteenth amendments.
See notes 112-20 infra and accompanying text.

19. 29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(3) (1976). In a complementary restriction, § 8(b)(2) forbids a union
"to cause or attempt to cause" an employer to violate § 8(a)(3) or to discriminate against an em-
ployee whose nonmembership results from any factor other than failure to pay dues and initiation
fees. 29 U.S.C. § 158(b)(2) (1976). Section 7 of the Act guarantees employees the right to partici-
pate in labor organizations and "other concerted activities for the purpose of collective bargaining
or other mutual aid or protection." 29 U.S.C. § 157 (1976). This "declaration of employee rights"
is enforced through the unfair labor practices in § 8.

20. Much uncertainty exists about the meaning of the word "discrimination" for purposes of
finding an unfair labor practice under § 8(a)(3). See note 3 supra. The word is sometimes used to
refer to an employer's adverse treatment of employees, whether or not caused by employee exer-
cise of rights protected under § 7 of the Act. Some authorities, however, hold that only treatment
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916 WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY LAW QUARTERLY [Vol. 59:913

or any term or condition of employment," 21 and it must be "to en-
courage or discourage membership in any labor organization. '22

Congress had two reasons for enacting section 8(a)(3).3 First, Con-
gress wanted to prevent employers from interfering with employees'
rights to organize and choose representatives. Second, it wanted to
avoid undue restriction of employers' control over their enterprises. 24

Thus, the Act does not affect the right of an employer to discharge an
employee without reason or for nondiscriminatory reasons.25  Only
those discharges having the purpose and effect of encouraging or dis-
couraging union membership or activity are unlawful.26

The NLRB has primary responsibility to strike a proper balance be-
tween an employer's asserted business justifications and invasion of
employee rights.27 Distinguishing dual motive cases from "pretext"

caused by exercise of § 7 rights is "discrimination." A finding of discrimination sometimes re-
quires employers to differentiate their treatment of employees or base their conduct on arbitrary
reasons involving exercise of § 7 rights. See Shieber, supra note 3, at 48, 51-52. Shieber believes
that discrimination is any change in employment conditions caused by the exercise by employees
of§ 7 rights. Further, Shieber concludes that employer treatment of employees need not be differ-
ential. Therefore, Shieber would allow a finding of § 8(a)(3) discrimination even if the employer
treats all employees identically, as long as the employer's conduct is prompted by the exercise of
§ 7 rights. Id at 54-55, 76-77.

21. 29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(3) (1976).
22. Id
23. See discussion of § 8(a)(3) in H.R. REP. No. 1147, 74th Cong., 1st Sess. 19 (1935), re-

printed in 11 LEGISLATIvE HISTORY OF THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS AcT 3046, 3069 (1949)
[hereinafter cited as LEGISLATIVE HISTORY]. The House Report states:

Nothing in this subsection prohibits [sic, permits?] interference with the normal exercise
of the right of employers to select their employees or to discharge them. All that is
intended is that the employer shall not by discriminatory treatment in hire or tenure of
employment or terms or conditions of employment, interfere with the exercise by em-
ployees of their right to organize and choose representatives. It is for this reason that the
employer is prohibited from encouraging or discouraging membership in any labor or-
ganization by such discrimination.

Id
24. See, e.g., American Ship Bldg. Co. v. NLRB, 380 U.S. 300 (1965), in which the Supreme

Court stated that "[W]e have consistently construed the section to leave unscathed a wide range of
employer actions taken to serve legitimate business interests in some significant fashion, even
though the act committed may tend to discourage union membership." Id at 311. This construc-
tion of§ 8(a)(3) is essential if the employer's right to manage his enterprise is accorded protection.
Textile Workers v. Darlington Mfg. Co., 380 U.S. 263 (1965).

25. Typically, courts of appeals state that "management is free to discharge employees for
good cause, bad cause, or no cause at all." See, e.g., NLRB v. Computed Time Corp., 587 F.2d
790, 795 (5th Cir. 1979).

26. See, e.g., American Thread Co. v. NLRB, 631 F.2d 316, 320 (4th Cir. 1980); Waterbury
Community Antenna, Inc. v. NLRB, 587 F.2d 90, 96 (2d Cir. 1978).

27. NLRB v. Fleetwood Trailer Co., Inc., 389 U.S. 375, 378 (1967), quoting NLRB v. Great
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cases is an important part of this task. Dual motive cases occur when
the discipline decision involves legitimate business reasons as well as
discriminatory considerations.28 In pretext cases, by contrast, the em-
ployer fails to set forth legitimate business reasons for disciplining an
employee.29  Because no valid justification for the discipline exists,
there is no dual motive.3

1 Inferences31 of unlawful employer motiva-
tion must, however, be supported by substantial evidence.32

When establishing a prima facie 8(a)(3) case, the most important fac-
tual component the General Counsel must prove is employer knowl-
edge of the disciplined employee's union activities. 33 Knowledge
provides the basis from which unlawful intent may be inferred.34 Be-

Dane Trailers, 388 U.S. 26, 33-34 (1967). See also Texas Instruments, Inc. v. NLRB, 599 F.2d
1067, 1073 (1st Cir. 1979).

28. Address by former NLRB member John C. Truesdale, October 3, 1980, at Columbia,
Missouri, 105 LAB. REL. REP. (BNA) 146 (October 20, 1980) [hereinafter cited as Truesdale
address].

29. In modem day labor relations an employer will rarely, if ever, baldly assert that it has
disciplined an employee because of disdain for protected activities. Instead, the employer will
advance what it considers a legitimate business reason for its action. The evidence may reveal,
however, that the asserted justification is a sham because the purported rule or circumstance ad-
vanced by the employer did not exist or was not relied on. When this occurs, the employer's
reason is pretextual. See Waterbury Community Antenna, Inc. v. NLRB, 587 F.2d 90, 97-98 (2d
Cir. 1978); NLRB v. Lizdale Knitting Mills, Inc., 523 F.2d 978, 980 (2d Cir. 1975); NLRB v.
Teamsters Local 294, 470 F.2d 57, 62 (2d Cir. 1972). See also notes 76, 133 infra.

30. Wright Line, 251 N.L.R.B. 1083, 1083-84 & n.5 (1980).
31. Because direct evidence of an employer's improper motive is difficult to establish, the

Board may infer intent from the surrounding circumstances. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. NLRB, 592
F.2d 595, 603 (1st Cir. 1979); NLRB v. South Shore Hosp., 571 F.2d 677, 682 (1st Cir. 1978). See
generally Annot., 83 A.L.R.2d 532, 540 (1962).

32. The Supreme Court has defined substantial evidence as "such relevant evidence as a
reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." Consolo v. Federal Maritime
Comm'n, 383 U.S. 607, 619-20 (1966), quoting Consolidated Edison Co. v. NLRB, 305 U.S. 197,
229 (1938). Substantial evidence must have rational probative force; it requires more than a scin-
tilla of evidence and must do more than create a suspicion of the existence of the fact to be
established. An unlawful purpose is not lightly inferred. Substantial evidence is not satisfied by
evidence that gives equal weight to inconsistent inferences. See American Thread Co. v. NLRB,
631 F.2d 316, 321 (4th Cir. 1980); Sioux Quality Packers v. NLRB, 581 F.2d 153, 157 (8th Cir.
1978); Federal-Mogul Corp. v. NLRB, 566 F.2d 1245, 1256-60 (5th Cir. 1978); Independent
Gravel Co. v. NLRB, 566 F.2d 1091, 1094 (8th Cir. 1977). See generally Salm, The Dischargefor
Union Altirties, 12 LAB. L.J. 325, 328-29 (1961).

33. Knowledge of lack of union activities may also be important when the employer is ille-
gally encouraging participation in a company favored union.

34. Obviously, if the employer is without knowledge of union activity, he presumably must
have taken the alleged action against the employee for some other reason. See NLRB v. Atlanta
Coca-Cola Bottling Co., 293 F.2d 300, 309 (5th Cir. 1961). See also NLRB v. Whitin Mach.
Works, 204 F.2d 883 (lst Cir. 1953). The knowledge requirement was directly addressed in Bulk

Washington University Open Scholarship









DISCRIMINATORY DISCHARGES

ward or penalize organizational activity,10 9 regardless of the actual
effect of management's exercise of control.

The "dominant motive" test is criticized for confficting with Con-
gress' specified process of shifting the burden of proof to the employer
after evidence of discriminatory intent is shown.110 Requiring the Gen-
eral Counsel to show that the employer's dominant purpose was dis-
criminatory is an unrealistic burden, as the employer is more capable
of producing evidence regarding intent.

C. The Mt. Healthy Test

As the two preceding sections demonstrate, analysis of which causa-
tion test is proper for adjudicating dual motive cases finds the "in part"
test standing at one extreme and the "dominant motive" test at the
other. The Supreme Court has not attempted to formulate standards of
review for dual motive discharges since Great Dane in 1967. While the
questions left unanswered in Great Dane will not be definitively re-
solved until the Court decides a section 8(a)(3) dual motive case, the
causation test propounded in Mt. Healthy Board of Education v.
Doyle1

1
2 may accurately foreshadow the Court's resolution of this

schism.
The Mt. Healthy case arose when Doyle, an untenured teacher,

brought suit against the Mt. Healthy School Board alleging discrimina-
tion in the refusal to renew his contract." 3 Doyle, upon request, re-
ceived a termination letter that set forth two reasons for the decision." 4

First, the board claimed Doyle used obscene language and gestures in
the school cafeteria."I5 Second, the board cited Doyle's disclosure of a
change in the school's dress code to a local radio station. 1 6 Doyle's
suit alleged that the refusal to renew his contract violated his rights

109. See DuRoss, supra note 36, at 1116.
110. See Wright Line, 251 N.L.R.B. 1083, 1087 (1980); note 76 spra and accompanying text.
i. Wright Line, 251 N.L.R.B. 1083, 1087 (1980). But see DuRoss, supra note 36, at 1126-28

(shifting burden of proof applied in Great Dane should have no application to most dual-motive
discharges: to redress the inequalities of in part test, burden of proving anti-union motive should
be part of Board's threshold showing, and the Board must show the motive was dominant to
establish a statutory violation).

112. 429 U.S. 274 (1977).
113. Id at 276.
114. Id at 282-83.
115. Id
116. Id Doyle asserted that his telephone call to the radio station was clearly protected con-

duct under the First Amendment.

Number 3]
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under the first and fourteenth amendments. " 7 The district court found
in Doyle's favor, holding that protected activity played a "substantial
part" in the school board's decision.1 8 The United States Court of Ap-
peals for the Sixth Circuit affirmed, stating that "substantial evidence"
supported the trial court's finding that the school board was motivated
"at least in part" by Doyle's activity." 9

The Supreme Court unanimously reversed. The Court agreed that
Doyle's conduct was protected, but rejected both the district court's
substantial motive test and the Sixth Circuit's partial motive test.' 20

The Court stated that even if protected conduct played a part, "sub-
stantial" or otherwise, in the decision to discipline or discharge, a con-
stitutional violation could be avoided only if the same decision would
have been reached absent an occurrence of protected activity.' 2 1 A de-
cision not to rehire should not "place an employee in a better position
as a result of the exercise of constitutionally protected conduct than he
would have occupied had he done nothing."'122 Further, an employer
should be able to evaluate an employee's performance and decide not
to rehire on the basis of the work record, despite the presence of pro-
tected conduct that reinforces the employer's decision.123

The Court then set forth a two-part test applicable in dual motive
contexts. Initially, the employee must establish that the protected con-
duct is a "substantial" or "motivating" factor. If this is shown, the bur-
den shifts to the employer to demonstrate that he would have reached
the same decision absent the protected conduct.' 24

Although Mt. Healthy does not specify the extent to which an em-
ployer must be influenced by protected activity before an employment
decision is rendered invalid, a companion case sheds light on the issue.
In Village of Arlington Heights v. Metropolitan Housing Development
Corp. , 125 decided the same day as Mt. Healthy, the Court considered a
race-based challenge under the Fair Housing Act to a village's denial of

117. Id at 276.
118. I d at 283.
119. Id at 276.
120. Id at 284.
121. Id at 287.
122. Id at 285.
123. Id at 286.
124. Id at 287 (citing Village of Arlington Heights v. Metropolitan Hous. Dev. Corp., 429

U.S. 252 (1977)).
125. 429 U.S. 252 (1977).

[Vol. 59:913
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a rezoning proposal that would have permitted multiple family hous-
ing. 126 The majority opinion by Justice Powell ruled that plaintiffs did
not carry their burden of proving that discrimination was a motivating
factor in the Village's decision.' 27 Relying on the Mt. Healthy test, the
Court stated that if the Village was partially motivated by a racially
discriminatory purpose the decision would not have been invalidated.
Instead such proof would have shifted to the Village the burden of es-
tablishing that the same decision would have resulted even if the im-
permissible purpose was not considered.' 28  Finally, the Court
recognized that efforts to determine the "dominant" or primary motive
in dual motive situations are usually unavailing. 29

V. APPLICABILITY OF M. HA4LTHY TO THE NLRA

The National Labor Relations Board has recently indicated that the
Mt. Healthy case is consistent with the NLRB decision-making process,
which traditionally inquires whether protected activity played a role in
an employer's decision and whether the employer could assert a legiti-
mate business reason to negate the showing of prohibited motivation.
In Wright Line, A Division of Wright Line, Inc. ' 30 the Board adopted
the Mt. Healthy analysis to relieve some of the confusion associated
with dual motive cases.' 3' Emphasizing a desire to set forth explicitly
the method to be used in drawing inferences and conclusions from the
evidence presented, the Board announced its abandonment of the "in
part" terminology.' 32 Instead, the Board applied a precise analytical
framework to determine whether a prima facie case was established
and, if so, whether the respondent carried its burden to establish that its
decision was not affected by the protected conduct.' 33

126. id at 254.
127. Id at 270.
128. Id at 270-71 n.21.
129. Id at 265.
130. 251 N.L.R.B. 1083 (1980).
131. Id at 1083. See notes 13-16, 102 supra.
132. Wright Line, 251 N.L.R.B. 1083, 1083, 1087 (1980). See Herman Bros., Inc., 252

N.L.R.B. No. 121, 105 L.R.R.M. 1374 (Sept. 30, 1980).
133. In the Board's opinion, the major contribution of Wright Line is that it will set forth more

clearly the burden on each party and provide the Board with an analytical framework within
which to discuss the extent to which the parties have carried their respective burdens. It is also
hoped that the case will lay to rest the Board's critics' concerns over perceived ambiguity in their
analytical capability. Finally, it is hoped that the Wright Line test will impose greater intellectual
rigor on the Board's analysis so that litigants and courts of appeals will have greater confidence

Number 3]
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The two-part Wright Line analysis requires that the General Counsel
initially establish a prima facie case by showing that the protected con-
duct was a "motivating" or "substantial" factor in the employer's deci-
sion.1 34 The burden then shifts to the employer to demonstrate as an
affirmative defense that his decision would have been the same absent
any protected conduct. 35 If the employer fails to establish this by a
preponderance of the evidence 136 the General Counsel will prevail, re-
gardless of the quantum of unlawful motivation involved. 137 If the em-
ployer establishes an affirmative defense, no unfair labor practice is
committed.1

38

and understanding of the process utilized by the Board in adjudicating unfair labor practice cases.
See Truesdale address, supra note 28, at 148-49.

134. The General Counsel must seek to establish a prima facie case of discrimination in both
pretext and dual motivation cases. The "absence of any legitimate basis" for the employer's ac-
tion or a showing of disparate treatment regarding the action may form part of the General Coun-
sel's affimative case. See text of Memorandum #80-58 by NLRB General Counsel William A.
Lubbers, Nov. 4, 1980, [1980] 105 LAB. REI. REP. (BNA) 245, 246 [hereinafter cited as Memoran-
dum]. See also Shattuck Denn Mining Corp. v. NLRB, 362 F.2d 466 (9th Cir. 1966).

135. It is important to note that the employer must show that the same decision wouldhave
been made in the absence of protected activity. A showing that the same decision wouldhave been
justfied or couldhave been made will not be sufficient to establish the affirmative defense. Memo-
randum, supra note 134, at 246 n.5.

The shifting burden requirement is the most apparent distinction between the Mi. Healthy-
Wright Line test and the "dominant motive" test, which requires the General Counsel to show that
the employer's action would not have taken place absent the protected activity. Id at 246 n.2.
However, "the shifting of burdens does not undermine the established concept that the General
Counsel must establish an unfair labor practice by a preponderance of the evidence." Wright
Line, 251 N.L.R.B. 1083, 1088 n.l 1 (1980). The shifting burden requires the employer to establish
an affirmative defense to overcome the prima facie case. This requirement does not shift the
ultimate burden. Id

136. See note 91 supra.
137. Memorandum, supra note 134, at 246.
138. Interpreting the Board's decision in Wright Line for the regional offices, the General

Counsel indicates that an opportunity exists to rebut the affirmative defense with further evidence
of unlawful motivation. Memorandum, supra note 134, at 246. The Board's decision did not
provide for such rebuttal. See notes 175-76 infra and accompanying text.

Following Wright Line the Board has meticulously adhered to these standards. See Red Ball
Motor Freight, Inc., 253 N.L.R.B. No. 111, 106 L.R.R.M. 1033, 1034 (Dec. 19, 1980) (Wright Line
applied; after prima facie case made out, burden shifted to employer to show discharge would
have occurred even in absence of concerted protected activities); United Broadcasting Co., 253
N.L.R.B. No. 102, 106 L.R.R.M. 1005 (Dec. 10, 1980) (under Wright Line, no unfair labor practice
when General Counsel fails to make prima facie showing that protected conduct was a motivating
factor in discharge decision); Russ Togs, Inc., 253 N.L.R.B. No. 99, 106 L.R.R.M. 1067 (Dec. 15,
1980) (layoff of two employees violated § 8(a)(3) under Wright Line analysis); Joshua's, Inc., 253
N.L.R.B. No. 82, 106 L.R.R.M. 1035 (Dec. 5, 1980) (finding of unfair labor practice by Adminis-
trative Law Judge upheld because employer failed to demonstrate it would have taken same ac-
tion in absence of opposition to the union); Weather Tamer, Inc., 253 N.L.R.B. No. 36, 105
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Because the M. Healthy test was pronounced in a first amendment
case, some critics believe it inapplicable to section 8(a)(3) cases. Circuit
Judge Thornberry, concurring in Federal-Mogul Corp. v. NLRB, 139 ar-
gued that the judiciary has greater freedom to balance competing inter-
ests in a constitutional context than under the NLRA, in which
Congress has struck a balance favoring employees. 4 ' This analysis is
inapposite for three reasons. First, the Act was not passed to encourage
pro-union activity. While Congress did intend to equalize the negotiat-
ing capabilities of employees and employers, it did so by protecting the
collective bargaining process, which is furthered by section 8(a)(3). 14 '
Second, the M. Healthy test does not strike a balance favoring employ-
ers. Rather, it is designed to preclude employees from obtaining relief
to which they otherwise are not entitled simply because organizational
activity was involved.'4 2 Finally, a test that is adequate to protect first
amendment rights is undoubtedly adequate to protect organizational
rights.'

4 3

VI. CRITICAL ANALYSIS

Assuming that the Mt. Healthy test is applicable to dual motive dis-
charges under section 8(a)(3), it follows that the "in part" test, which is

L.R.R.M. 1569 (Nov. 14, 1980) (fact that employer waged vigorous campaign against union and
decided to close plant after union won election undermined employer's explanation that he would
have taken same action in absence of union activity); Valley Cabinet & Mfg., Inc., 253 N.L.R.B.
No. 8, 105 L.R.R.M. 1467 (Oct. 21, 1980) (employer violates § 8(a)(3) by laying off employee);
Motor Convoy, Inc., 252 N.L.R.B. No. 175, 105 L.R.R.M. 1519 (Sept. 30, 1980) (motivating factor
behind employee discharge was filing of numerous grievances, not accident in which cargo dam-

aged); United Parcel Serv., Inc. 252 N.L.R.B. No. 145, 105 L.R.R.M. 1484 (Sept. 30, 1980) (em-

ployer failed to rebut showing of General Counsel that discharge unlawfully motivated due to

abrupt and harsh discipline); Herman Bros., Inc., 252 N.L.R.B. No. 121, 105 L.R.R.M. 1374 (Sept.

30, 1980) (unfair labor practice upheld where employer did not present persuasive evidence that
discharge would not occur in absence of protected activity).

Since Wright Line was announced in August, 1980, it has been recognized by the Third and
Fourth Circuits. See NLRB v. Permanent Label Corp., No. 80-1617 (3d Cir. 1981); NLRB v.
Bums Motor Freight, Inc., 635 F.2d 312 (4th Cir. 1980).

139. 566 F.2d 1245, 1264-65 (5th Cir. 1978) (Thornberry, J., concurring).

140. Id at 1265. Judge Thornberry believes this balance was struck in recognition of the
superior bargaining position of the employer. Id

141. See DuRoss, supra note 36, at 115-16.

142. Id See Mt. Healthy Bd. of Educ. v. Doyle, 429 U.S. 274, 285-86 (1977) (constitutional
right sufficiently vindicated if "an employee is placed in no worse a position than if he had not
engaged in the [protected] conduct").

143. Waterbury Community Antenna, Inc. v. NLRB, 587 F.2d 90, 99 (2d Cir. 1978).
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satisfied by a showing of improper motive, is rejected. 1" The "in part"
test is conceptually at odds with the principle that management, as the
master of its own business affairs, can discharge employees for good
cause or no cause at all,'45 provided such action is not based on anti-
union animus. The conflict exists because the employer's legitimate
justification is ignored when an improper reason for discharge exists.
The employer's recognized right to enforce company rules should not
be rendered inconsequential because it conflicts with an employee's
right to participate in protected activities without adverse repercus-
sions.1 46 Thus, an "in part" test, while accurate to a certain degree, is
incomplete, for it fails to provide employers with a fair opportunity to
assert discharge for cause when union activists are terminated.

The "dominant motive" test should also be rejected in light of Mt.
Healthy, despite their apparent similarity. 47 While both Mt. Healthy
and the "dominant motive" test reject an "in part" analysis and require
proof of how the employer would have acted in the absence of pro-
tected activity, the tests place the burden of proof on different par-
ties. 148 Under the "dominant motive" test, the General Counsel must
make a prima facie showing of unlawful motive, as well as rebut an
employer asserted defense by demonstrating that the discharge would
not have taken place but for the employees' protected activities. 149

Under the Mt. Healthy test, however, once the General Counsel estab-
lishes a prima facie case of employer reliance on protected activity, the
burden shifts to the employer to demonstrate that the same decision
would have been made in the absence of protected activity.150 This
distinction is crucial, as allocation of the burden of proof can be

144. Wright Line, 251 N.L.R.B. 1083, 1087 (1980).
145. See, e.g., NLRB v. Computed Time Corp., 587 F.2d 790, 795 (5th Cir. 1979); NLRB v.

Nabors, 196 F.2d 272, 275 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 344 U.S. 865 (1952).
146. See note 99 supra and accompanying text.
147. Wright Line, 251 N.L.R.B. 1083, 1087-88 (1980).

148. Id See notes 110-11, 135 supra and accompanying text.

149. The First Circuit may have recently modified its view, retreating from its "but for" termi-
nology. In Texas Instruments, Inc. v. NLRB, 599 F.2d 1067, 1073 (1st Cir. 1979), and NLRB v.
Eastern Smelting and Ref. Corp., 598 F.2d 666, 671 (Ist Cir. 1979), the First Circuit stated that
once some improper motivation is shown, the burden is on the employer to prove that it had a
good reason for the discharge and that the discharge, would have occurred in the absence of the
improper reason. This formulation, like the Board's, puts the burden of proving the employer's
motives on the employer and removes much of the controversy between the Board and that
circuit.

150. See notes 76, 124, 135 supra and accompanying text.

[Vol. 59:913
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determinative.1 51

Keeping the burden on the General Counsel is inconsistent with the
Supreme Court's holding in Great Dane152 and places the employer in
an inordinately advantageous position. Instead, the Board should re-
quire employers to supply proof of motive, affording them the opportu-
nity to justify their business decision. Requiring the employer to justify
his business decision best advances the fundamental objectives articu-
lated by Congress, as the employer is the party with best access to proof
of motivation. 1

53

The "dominant motive" test is further undermined by the Arlington
Heights decision.' 54 The Court explicitly eschewed the dominant mo-
tive analysis, stating it is practically impossible to examine a dual mo-
tive decision and definitively ascertain the "dominant" or "primary"
purpose.1

55

In reconciling the Mt. Healthy test with established labor law princi-
ples, it is important to note that neither Mt. Healthy nor Wright Line
makes reference to the two prong analysis of Great Dane. Mt. Healthy
and Wright Line are nevertheless consistent with Great Dane and rep-
resent a refinement of the method for adjudicating dual motive dis-
charges under the NLRA.

Great Dane established "inherently destructive" and "comparatively
slight" categories of employer conduct without describing how to make
the classification. 5 6 Under the first category, "inherently destructive"
conduct supports the finding of an unfair labor practice without specific
reference to intent.'57 Although the employer is afforded the opportu-
nity to present a business justification for his conduct, the Board may
balance this justification against the harm to employee rights and still
find an unfair labor practice.' 58

The Mt. Healthy- Wright Line analysis should not apply to "inher-
ently destructive" cases. First, resolution of these cases does not turn

151. Wright Line, 251 N.L.R.B. 1083, 1087 (1980).
152. See notes 76, 135 supra and accompanying text.
153. Id
154. See notes 125-29 supra and accompanying text.
155. See note 129 supra and accompanying text.
156. Apparently, categorization of employer conduct according to the fact pattern is accom-

plished through policy determinations made by the Board on a case-by-case basis. See Comment,
supra note 73, at 777.

157. See notes 73, 81 supra and accompanying text.
158. Id
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on motive. t59 The impact on organizational activity may be so severe
that no employer justification could outweigh the employee harm. 16
Second, Wright Line is not a balancing test. The essence of the Wright
Line test is its precise analytical framework, which is not susceptible to
loose application.' 6' Wright Line does not provide the flexibility al-
lowed by the Supreme Court under the "inherently destructive"
category.'

62

Under the second category, when employer conduct causes "compar-
atively slight" harm to organizational activity, the General Counsel is
required to establish a prima facie case by showing the employer's dis-
criminatory conduct could have had an adverse affect on employee
rights to some extent.' 63 Once a prima facie case is established, the
burden of proof shifts to the employer to show that the discharge was
motivated by "legitimate and substantial" business justifications.'" If
the employer successfully rebuts the inference of illegal motivation, the
burden shifts back to the General Counsel, who must affirmatively
prove anti-union motivation through additional evidence. 65

The Mt. Healthy- Wright Line analysis applies to "comparatively
slight" cases, which comprise the overwhelming majority of section

159. See Memorandum, supra note 134, at 247. Again, an unfair labor practice may be found
under the inherently destructive category without regard to intent. See note 157 supra and accom-
panying text.

160. See note 73 supra.
161. Wright Line, 251 N.L.R.B. 1083, 1089 (1980). See note 133 supra and accompanying

text.
162. The Supreme Court expressly indicated that balancing occurs under the inherently de-

structive category. See notes 73, 80 supra. The Court reserved the possibility of holding that a
business justification offered in this category might substantiate employer conduct despite its in-
herently destructive nature. See note 73 supra. If a balancing test is also applied when employer
conduct is comparatively slight (the Wright Line analysis applies to these cases-see note 166 infra
and accompanying text), the Great Dane Court's careful distinction between the two categories of
employer conduct becomes a distinction without a difference because the rules applicable to the
two categories become identical. In both cases a balancing test would apply to determine the
legitimacy and substantiality of the employer's interest against the interference with employee
rights. For the distinction to be meaningful, balancing should occur only when employer conduct
is inherently destructive. Otherwise, the Board should look solely at the employer's business justi-
fications without reference to the amount of interference with employee rights to see if the justifi-
cations are legitimate and substantial. A balancing process should not be allowed to blur the
precise burdens of proof and steps of analysis required to fairly adjudicate "comparatively slight"
cases. Wright Line's formal framework provides the clarity that § 8(a)(3) dual motive cases de-
mand. See Shieber & Moore, supra note 7, at 13; Comment, supra note 82, at 147-48.

163. See notes 33-48, 75 supra and accompanying text.
164. See notes 73, 76, 80-82 supra and accompanying text.
165. See notes 76-77 supra and accompanying text.
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8(a)(3) discriminatory discharges.166 The Mt. Healthy test embraced in
Wright Line accomplishes the "delicate task"' 67 of providing a proce-
dure through which the interests of employees in concerted activity can
be "compared" to the interests of the employer in operating his busi-
ness consistent with Supreme Court decisions and the policy of the
NLRA. The employee's rights are safeguarded because, initially, the
General Counsel is required to show only that protected activities were
a factor, "substantial" or "motivating," in the employer's decision to
engage in discriminatory conduct. 6 ' Consistent with Great Dane, if
the General Counsel is unable to meet this minimal requirement, no
unfair labor practice is found.'69

If a prima facie case is established, the burden of proof shifts to the
employer to show that absent the protected conduct, he would have
reached the same decision.' 70 This is the "legitimate and substantial"
business justification requirement of Great Dane, articulated as a clear,
practical test. Under Great Dane, no unfair labor practice is committed
if, despite knowledge by the employer of protected conduct 17 1 and ac-
tion by the employer that discourages union activity, 172 the employer
was motivated by "legitimate objectives."' 173  Simply stated, Wright
Line requires an employer to prove that the same decision would have
been reached "anyway."' 174 It is irrelevant that protected activity is a
"dominant or primary" factor or that illegal motivation is "a part" of
the decision. If the employer fails to establish the affirmative defense,
the General Counsel prevails, regardless of the quantum of unlawful

166. Only two cases appear to follow the "inherently destructive" language of Great Dane.
See NLRB v. Midwest Hangers Co. & Liberty Eng'r Corp., 474 F.2d 1155, 1158 (8th Cir.) (dis-
charge of large number of employees including union organizers during organizational campaign
held "inherently destructive of employee interests," thus putting burden on employer to justify its
actions), cert. denied, 414 U.S. 823 (1973); NLRB v. Entwhistle Mfg. Co., 120 F.2d 532, 536 (4th
Cir. 1941) (discriminatory discharge of employee because of union affiliation goes to the "very
heart of the Act").

167. NLRB v. Erie Resistor, 373 U.S. 221, 229 (1963).
168. See note 134 supra and accompanying text.

169. See notes 33-48, 75 supra and accompanying text.
170. See note 135 supra and accompanying text.
171. Knowledge is inferred through either direct or substantial evidence. See notes 31, 33-34,

36 .upra and accompanying text.
172. See notes 37-48, 63 supra and accompanying text.
173. See notes 49-57, 73, 80-81 supra and accompanying text.
174. Former NLRB member Truesdale characterized the M. Healthy-Wright Line test as an

"anyway" test in comparison to the First Circuit's "but for" test. See Truesdale address, supra
note 28, at 148.
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motivation involved. 75 If the employer establishes the defense, an un-
fair labor practice has not been committed.1 76

VII. CONCLUSION

The applicability of the Mt. Healthy test to the NLRA depends on its
compatibility with Congressional intent and established labor law prin-
ciples and the extent to which the test accommodates management em-
ployment prerogatives and union organizing rights.177  Section 8(a)(3)
should not prevent an employer from discharging an employee who
lacks skill or ability, nor should it require hiring an incompetent em-
ployee; the section, however, should prevent an employer from making
discharge decisions on the basis of union activity or membership. 7 8 It
is therefore necessary that the General Counsel be required to establish
anti-union animus as the motivating factor for the employer's conduct
in order to prove a violation. 179

Congress intended motive to be the critical factor and placed the re-
sponsibility of evaluating the competing interests on the Labor Board.
It is therefore proper that the forum closest to the dispute in both expe-

175. See note 137 supra and accompanying text. An affirmative defense is not established
unless the employer has a legitimate and substantial business justification.

176. See note 138 supra and accompanying text. This step of the Wright Line analysis is
poorly defined. Prior to shifting the burden of proof back to the General Counsel, the employer
must successfully establish his affirmative defense. This entails proving a legitimate and substan-
tial business justification or, as stated in note 174 supra, that the employer would have reached the
same decision "anyway." The General Counsel, in his memorandum to regional offices, indicated
that "it would appear" the General Counsel presenting the case has an opportunity to rebut the
affirmative defense through additional evidence of hostile motivation. See Memorandum, jupra
note 134, at 246. However, the Board in Wright Line made no provision for such rebuttal. The
General Counsel's assertion that rebuttal is available implies that a legitimate and substantial
business justification can co-exist with a high quantum of unlawful motivation. Rather than re-
quire the Board subjectively to decide what amount of unlawful motivation outweighs the em-
ployer's legitimate business decision through an imprecise balancing process, establishing the
affirmative defense should conclusively exonerate an employer from the unfair labor practice
charge.

177. BufSc. DuRoss, supra note 36, at 1117, 1128 (recognizing importance of both manage-
ment prerogatives and union organizing rights, but implying that exercise of management discre-
tion is far more important).

178. 78 CONG. REC. 10560 (1934) (remarks of Sen. Walsh).
179. Congressional debate on § 8(a)(3) emphasized that it was necessary to establish anti-

union animus as the motivating factor for the employer's conduct in order to prove a violation.
See 79 CONG. REc. 2333 (1935), reprinted in LEGISLATIVE HISTORY, supra note 23, at 2433. Put
another way, it is the purpose of the National Labor Relations Act to guarantee that business
decisions not be the product of anti-union motivation. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. NLRB, 592 F.2d
595, 603 (Ist Cir. 1979).
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rience and expertise administer a uniform test that provides a precise
framework for analyzing the complex circumstances that characterize
dual motive discharges. The Supreme Court should formally recognize
the Mt. Healthy- Wright Line test as the correct standard to apply in
adjudicating discriminatory discharge claims. This approach should
then be adopted uniformly by the circuit courts of appeals, ending the
confusion that currently exists on this point of law.

Mark S. Hochman
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